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Introduction

For half a century the Tetlin Indian Reserve was a lightning
rod of controversy. Its establishment in 1930 provoked a storm
of protest over the efficacy of Indian reserves as a means to
protect Indians from the harmful aspects of Western culture and
at the same time sustain the Indians' subsistence lifestyle.
While this controversy was virtually laid to rest with the
passage of the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act of 1971, the
location of the Reserve boundaries continues to be a source of
controversy. The dispute concerns the location of the western,
eastern. and northwest segments of the boundary. The location
of the western boundary, described in Executive Order No. 5365
as extending from the mouth of Porcupine Creek to the old trail
crossing of the Tok River, is a critical issue. Did the
framers of the Executive Order mean the Valdez-Eagle trail or
the Tanacross-Tetlin trail? The Tetlin Native Corporation
maintains that it is the former trail; the Bureau of Land

Management, the latter trail.

This report is an independent effort to help resolve the
controversy ové: the location of the western boundary. Part 1
of the report is an historical overview of explorations and the
development of trails to and within the Upper Tanana district

Mainly from the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-98 to the Chisana
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Gold Rush of 1913. Part 2 describes the activities of a fur
trader named John Hajdukovich in the Upper Tanana district
during the 19208, 19308, and 1940s, the principal events
le#ding up the establishment of the Reserve, and finally the
efforts of the Upper Tanana Indians to obtain the benefits of
the Indian Reorganization Act in the 1940s8. Part 3 summarizes
the attempts of the Bureau of Land Management and the Bureau of
Indian Affairs to modify the Reserve boundaries and later to

locate the boundaries as described in the Executive Order.

The report could not be completed without the assistance of
many people. I thank the attorneys of the Bureau of Land
Management, State of Alaska, and the Tetlin Native Corporation
for the opportunity to complete the report; Renee M. Jaussaud
of the National Archives for researching certain files for me;
Dr. Gary Stein of the State of Alaska for providing me with
documents from certain files in the National Archives and the
Federal Records Center in Washington state; and Edith Kevan,
Shelly Thompson, Cindi Eichholz, Susie Bohna, and Mandy Olund
of the Bureau of Land Management's Document Processing Section
for their extraordinary efforts in seeing that the report was
completed on time. I specially thank Mandy Olund for her
perseverance in deciphering my scrawls and repeatedly typing
drafts. It goes without saying that any errors in facts or

interpretation are my own.



PART ONE

EARLY TRAILS TO THE UPPER TANANA DISTRICT
Long before the first white men entered the district, the Upper
Tanana Indians obtained European trade goods through
intermediaries on the Copper, lower Tanana, and Yukon rivers,
and perhaps some even made the long journey to the posts of the
Russian and French-Canadian fur traders. Within a decade aftef
reaching the southern coast of Alaska in 1783, Russian fur
traders established several posts in Prince William Sound, the
most important being Fort Konstantin and Elena (Nuchek) on
Hinchinbrook Island. The Russians traded primarily with the
coastal Indians, but never ceased in attempting to extend their
influence to inland Indians. At least seven expeditions were
sent into the Copper River basin between the years 1794 to
1848. Most were cut short by armed conflicts with the fierce
gopper River Indians. The Russians in the Serebrenikov
expedition of 1848, for example, were murdered by Indians
somewhere in the vicinity of Batzulnetas on the upper Copper
River. Still the Russians persisted. With time they finally
developed friendly relations with the Indians, and in 1858 were
allowed to establish a small post known as Mednovsk odinochka

near the junction of the Copper and Chitina rivers.
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In locating a post on the Copper River, the Russian American
Company may have hoped to check the growing influence of the
Hudson Bay Company among the Yukon and Tanana Indians. The
Russians founded a post at Nulato on the lower Yukon River as
early as 1838, but owing to Indian depredations were unable to
continue trade there on a regular basis until the 1850s. In
the meantime, the Hudson Bay Company moved into the Yukon by
way of the Poécupine River. 1In 1847, the company established
Fort Yukon near the mouth of the Porcupine River, and in the
folléwing vear founded Fort Selkirk near the mouth of the Pelly
River. The Chilkat Indians, who controlled the various passes
from the head of Lynn Canal to the Upper Yukon and acted as
middlemen for the Yukon and Tanana Indians with traders in
southeast Alaska, razed Fort Selkirk three years later, but not
before the French-Canadian traders made contact with the Tanana
Indians. Subsequently, both the Russian and French-Canadian
traders carried on a flourishing business with the Yukon and
Tanana Indians at Nulato and Fort Yukon, and each year made
trips to Nuklukayet at the mouth of the Tanana River for the

purpose of trade with the Tanana Indians. 1/

After the sale of the Alaska to the United States in 1867,
American traders quickly moved into the Yukon River basin and
Prince William Sound to occupy the former Russian trading

posts. The Americans did not establish a post on the Copper
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River, although in the early 1880s George Holt of the Alaska
Commercial Company was sent into the region to investigate the
prospects. On the Yukon River, however, the traders were
intent in dominating the fur trade. A new post called Fort
Adams was established at the mouth of the Tanana River, and a
short while later the traders occupied Fort Yukon. During the
18708 the traders, many of them agents of the Alaska Commercial
Company, established other posts on the Yukon River. One of
the most important here was Fort Reliance, which was founded in
1874 about six miles below present-day Dawson on the Yukon

River.

The founding of Fort Reliance is important in the history of
the Upper Tanana district, for it was at this post that the
Upper Tanana Indians definitely traded with white men and from
which place prospectors were to penetrate the district. From
time to time agents of the Alaska Commercial Company went on
prospecting journeys to the tributaries of the Yukon River. 1In
1873, Arthur Harper and Frederick Hart prospected the Stewart
and White River countries. They failed to find gold on Stewart
River, which later became the scene of a small gold rush; and
though more successful on White River, one of several water
routes to the Upper Tanana, they did not locate paying
deposits. News of these and other discoveries on the Yukon

- River reached the Pacific coast, and so beginning in the early



1870s small prospecting parties from the declining Cassiar
mining camps crossed Chilkoot Pass at the head of Lynn Canal to
the Upper Yukon River. Supplied from Fort Reliance, the
prospectors scattered throughout the region, some of them
making their way into the Upper Tanana district. ©Upon learning
that Tanana Indians traded at Fort Reliance, Michael E. Hess
made a journey into the district in the winter of 1885-86;
other than that a géod Indian trail existed from the Tanana
River to Fort Reliance, he reported little about his

experiences in the district. 2/

Unknown to Hess at that time, the Upper Tanana Indians received
another white visitor in 1885, this one being an Army officer.
Recent developments in Alaska attracted the interest of certain
high officers in the Army who saw the possibility of bringing
glory to the service by undertaking explorations in the
territory. 1In 1883, Lieutenant Frederick Schwatka crossed
Chilkoot Pass to the head of the Yukon River and descended that
river to its mouth in a raft. He produced the first map of the
entire Yukon River, and did much to popularize the territory in
several books. A year later Lieutenant William R. Abercrombie
led an éxpedition up the Copper River with hopes of locating a
pass over ihe Alaska Range to the Tanana and Yukon rivers. He
failed in his mission, finding the Copper River ext:emeiy

dangerous for navigation, but succeeded nevertheless in making
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a survey of the Copper River Delta and in locating a possible
portage route into the interior by way of Valdez Bay. 3/ One
year later, in 1885, Lieutenant Henry T. Allen reached the
Copper River mouth to attempt an ascent of the river to its

head, this time in the winter.

With Sergeant Cady Robertson and Private Fred W. Fickett, Allen
soon reached Taral where he met Chief Nicolai and a half-
starved prospector named John Bremner who had spent the winter
there. After exploring the Chitina River, Allen returned to
the Copper River and began the long journey over an old Indian
trail to the Tanana River with a crippled Indian as guide. In
early June they reached Batzulnetas where they found Indians
from Lake Suslota and the Tanana River patiently awaiting the
first salmon run of the season. From these Indians Allen
learned of the existence of trails from Batzulnetas to the head
of Nabesna River and to the Tanana River by way of Mentasta
Lake. One Indian, who claimed to have visited Fort Reliance,

provided Allen with a crude map of the Tanana and Yukon rivers.

On June 4, Allen left Batzulnetas with four Indian guides for
Lake Suslota where a small village was located. On the
following day they left that village and crossed Suslota Pass
to the headwaters of the Little Tok River. Allen was inclined

to follow the Little Tok and Tok rivers to the Tanana River,
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but taking the advice of his Indian guides who claimed that the
white men would starve to death before reaching the Tanana
River, Allen continued the journey in a northeast direction.

It is not certain as to which pass the Allen party took from
the L;ttle Tok Valley to the Tanana River. About ten miles
from their crossing of the Little Tok River, the Allen party
headed easterly for a day. and then resumed a northeasterly
course. Making a steep ascent to "a very short and nacrow
‘divide', 4,500 feet above sea level with bold, barren bluffs
on each side," Allen obtained his first view of the extensive
lake-studded Tanana Valley. It was a *grand sight," Allen
wrote. "Fatigue and hunger were for the first time forgotten
in the great joy at finding our greatest obstacles overcome."
Descending the steep declivity, the men soon reached timberline
and made camp, having traveled about fourteen miles in the

all-night marcch.

Breaking camp in the afternoon of June 9, ready to march all
night, the men began the final leg of their journey to
Nandell's. In the morning of June 10 they climbed a low hill
on the flats and observed the drainage to which the lakes
belonged. Finally, at three in the morning they reached
Nandell's where the entire village of forty men, twenty-eight
women, and eighteen children turned out to welcome the

bedraggled party with a great firing of guns.
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The village of Nandell, now known as Last Tetlin, was situated
on a small, clear, lake-fed stream. The village consisted of
four large houses, which appeared to have been occupied for
many years, given the scarcity of timber for firewood in the
vicinity and the existence of well-worn trails nearby.
Although the Indians were almost without exception sufferihg
from severe coughs and what Allen referred to as "pulmonary
troubles," they were in a far better condition than the Copper
River Indians. In fact, some of the children were able to
repeat the alphabet, having been instructed by the Anglican
missionary Vincent C. Sims. 4/ Most of the men had been to
Fort R;liance one or more times for trading purposes. The
Indians generally took one of two routes to the upper Yukon
River. From the Tanana River the Indians portaged to a
tributary of the White River, and descended that stream, the
White River, and the Yukon River in skin boats. The other
route was an overland trail which headed northeasterly to the
Yukon River; the return trip to the Tanana River was always by
this route. 1In addition, Allen learned of the existence of a
northwesterly-bearing trail from Last Tetlin to Lake Mansfield

where connection was made with the trail to Lake Mentasta.

For a short time, Allen considered sending three of his men
over the portage to Fort Reliance, but in view of the fact that

his men wete‘exhausted. that both Robertson and Bremner were
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suffering from scurvy, and that the party lacked adequate
provisions, Allen decided to descend the Tanana River to its
mouth as quickly as possible and there obtain additional
supplies. 1In a council with the Indians he learned that a raft
journey down the Tanana to the Yukon River would require "two
moons" or twenty days in a skin boat. Due to rapids and sﬁags
in the river, the trip was dangerous. Allen could not persuade
any of the Indians to accompany him to the Yukon River. They
would only go as far as the next village downriver, two days
distant by river.

Having made the decision to descend the Tanana River, Allen and
his men on June 12 were guided by a medicine man to Tetling
(now Tetlin), about eleven miles distant by trail. This
stretch of the journey was very pleasant, recalled Allen. The
trail led through a country of small lakes and high grass,
which he characterized as "more pastoral in its nature than in
any part of the Territory." Few mosquitoes and gnats plagued
the men on the trail, presumably because the Indians had burned

the surrounding vegetation.

At Tetling, a small village on a deep, clear stream inhabited
by six men, four women, and seven children, Allen arranged for
the construction of a large boat of caribou skins and continued

trading money and every garment and article that could be
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spared for meat and fish. At six in the morning of June 14,
the white men left Tetling with two Indians and three dogs on
board the boat. After a run of two and one-half hours down the
meandering river, they reached the muddy and swift Tanana
River. Passing the mouth of the Tokai River (Tok River) early
in the morning of June 15, the men reached the foot of the
trail to Lake Mentasta late that afternoon. Here they found
Kheeltat's caches, and, as he promised, Allen released his two
Indian guides, who returned to Nandell by way of an overland
trail. Shortly thereafter, Allen and his party floated
downstream a distance of about four miles and made camp above a

muddy tributary of the Tanana River.

Upon the advice of Nandell, who said that the village had
recently suffered many deaths, Allen intended to pass quietly
and quickly through the territory of Kheeltat, whose village
was located on Mansfield Lake. However, a subchief named
Deshaddy from Nandell preceded Allen down the Tanana River and
informed Kheeltat of the white visitors. Kheeltat soon sent
two men down the river in canoes to Allen's camp. Persuaded to
visit Kheeltat, Allen and Fickett were led overland to the
village. Reaching the village in a state of exhaustion, the
men met briefly and ominously with the chief before falling
asleep. When they awoke, they found twenty-six men and four

women in the chief's house. Much to Allen's relief, the
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Indians only wanted medicine, a request Allen quickly filled
with a number of harmless pills. After selling Allen a few
furs and describing river conditions on the Tanana, Kheeltat
took Allen and Fickett to the river by canoe, promising to meet
them later in the year on the upper Yukon River. Kheeltat was
then preparing to make a journey to Arthur Harper's trading
post on or near Fetutlin on the Yukon River. Evidently there
was more than one route, for Allen learned that one was a water

route that took six days to traverse.

With his return to camp, Allen and his men resumed their
journey down the Tanana River, and ultimately the Yukon and
Koyukuk rivers. As histo:ian Morgan B. Sherwood wrote, the
Allen expedition "was an incredible achievement that deserves
to be ranked with the great explorations of North America."

6/ Allen put his powers of observation to the fullest test,
producing in 1887 the first reliable maps of the Tanana and
Koyukuk rivers which also illustrated the location of trading
posts, villages, and trails. In the Upper Tanana district, he
depicted not only his own route from the upper Copper River to
the Tanana River, but also the various trails from the Tanana
River to the Yukon River, the Mentasta Pass Trail, and the Last

Tetlin-Kheeltat Trail. 7/
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About a year after Allen passed through the upper Tanana
district, a prospector named Howard Franklin discovered gold
near the mouth of Fortymile River. A stampede to the river
soon followed, and other strikes were made on tributaries of
the river for the next decade. News of these strikes attracted
a great many prospectors to the Upper Yukon district, with the
result that systematic prospecting began on White River and the
tributaries of Birch Creek. Gold was discovered on Birch Creek
in the summer of 1893, resulting in a stampede from the
Fortymile district to Birch Creek and the founding of Circle
City. Both the Fortymile and the Birch Creek districts

remained producers well into the twentieth century.

In the mad search for gold, prospectors on the Yukon
doubtlessly crossed the divides at the head of Fortymile River,
Birch Creek, and White River to explore the Tanana basin. 1In
1890, E.H. Wells with three men including an Indian ascended
the Fortymile River to its head, crossed the divide to Lake
Mansfield, and thence to Tanana River. Wells intended to
follow the Mentasta Pass Trail to the Upper Copper district in
an effort to reach the coast, but the lack of provisions forced
him to return to the Tanana River after having traveled some
distance up the Tok River valley. The men then descended the
Tanana River to the Yukon. 1In 1891, Frederick Schwatka and

Charles W. Hayes set out to explore the region north of the
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St. Elias Mountains. Ascending White River, they encountered
less than a dozen prospectors on the river. Hayes, Schwatka,
and a prospector named Mark Russell with seven Indians
succeeded in making their way overland from White River to the

Upper Chitina River by way of Skolai Pass. 8/

When in 1897 steamers Excelsior and Portland arrived in San
Francisco and Seattle, respectively, with a "ton of gold" from
the Klondike River in Canada, the stream of prospectors into
the upper Yukon district was suddenly transformed into a raging
torrent. Their imaginations inflamed by reports of uatold
riches in Alaska, thousands of people crowded'into the offices
of steamship companies in Seattle, Vancouver, and San Francisco
for passag§ to the new Eldorado. They chartered or purchased
boats of every size and shape for the voyage to Alaska. Those
who managed to escape the turbulent waters and uncharted rocks
of Southeast Alaska finally arrived at the ancient Indian |
trails which led to Interior Alaska and thence to the Klondikg
River in Canada. Others went to St. Michael and ascended the

Yukon River in steamboats to the new mining camp of Dawson.

The Uppef Tanana district received much of the overflow of the
Klondike Gold Rush. By early summer of 1898, more than three
thousand people were landed at the new town of Valdez and were

well on their way into the interior by way of Valdez Glacier.
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| Once across the glacier, the prospectors followed or descended

Klutina River to the Copper River where a settlement called
Copper Center was founded. At that place they chose between an
old Indian trail and the B.P. Millard Trail to Mentasta Pass,
where they connected with a trail to the Portymile district and
the Yukon River. Both trails were not mapped; both led over
extremely difficult terrain of tundra, swamp, brush, swift and
deep streams, ravines filled with boulders, through a country
mostly inhabited by mosquitoes and gnats ready to drive the
unprepared traveler to the point of madness. Rather than brave
the wildecness, hundreds of weary prospectors turned back to
Valdez, broke in spirit and money, steeped in disgppointmcnt
and anger over the fact that the country was advertised before
it was tested. Nevertheless, many continued the long journey,
stopping frequently to prospect the many creeks en route. By
the fall of 1898, several thousand people were scattered along
the trails from Copper Center to Mentasta Pass and beyond,
building cabins, hunting game, chopping firewood, and otherwise

preparing for the winter.

Almost from the very beginning of the Klondike Gold Rush, the
Geological Survey and the Army were exploring the Copper River
and Tanana River balini. and preparing topographic and geologic

maps of the regions. The Peters expedition of 1898 and the

~ work of Captain william R. Abercrombie in the Copper River
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basin in the same year, contributed much to geographic

knowledge.

On April 11, 1898 a Geological Survey party landed at Skagway
with instructions to make a reconnaissance of the lower White
River and as much of the Tanana River as time would permit.

The party consisted of William J. Peters, topographe::

Alfred H. Brooks, geologist; and Charles Ray, H.B. Baker,

L.D. Gardiner, and A.R. Airs, camp hands. Crossing White Pass,
the men made their way to Selkirk, where they hoped to find a
guide and information about the White and Tanana River basins.
They were unsuccessful. They were told that the Tanana Indians
were warlike people, that White River was not suitable for
navigation, and that the portage to the Tanana River ranged in

length from twenty to one hundred miles.

On June 8, the Survey party began the difficult journey up the
swift and murky White River in three canoces, each loaded with
about nine hundred pounds of provisions and equipment. More
than a month later, they reached the mouth of Snag River, and
ascending tha:lrive: eventually located a portage trail from
the river to Mirror Creek, a tributary of Chisana River. After
three days of backbreaking work in crossing five miles of a
flat and swampy area, the men finally reached Chisana River on

August 1.
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Upon reaching the headwaters of the Tanana River, the Survey
party had less than one month's provisions left, forcing them
to make a hurried trip down the Tanana River. Contrary to
rumors, they found the river to be easy for navigation. On
August 11 they reached the crossing of the so-called Fortymile
and Mentasta Trail where they met a party of prospectors from
the Copper River country as well as a group of Indians, who
proved to be anything but warlike. Owing to the swift current,
the party made rapid progress down the river, making thirty to
fifty miles a day. 1In late August, they reached the lower
reaches of the Tanana River where, about one hundred miles
above the mouth of the river, they met a steamboat, the second
to have ascended the river. On September 1 they reached the
trading post called Weare at the mouth of the Tanana River and

obtained passage on a steamboat to St. Michael.

Publishing the results of the reconnaissance in 1900, Brooks
estimated that one hundred prospectors visited different pé:ts
of the Tanana basin during the summer of 1898. About one-third
of this number probably spent the winter there. Most of them
confined their explorations to the Tanana River and its
tributaries west of the Fortymile trail, but several were said
to have pushed on to the head of the river where they

discovered deposits of copper. 9/
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Most of the prospectors reached the Tanana basin by way of the
Fortymile Trail from the Fortymile River or the Copper River.
From the Mosquito Fork of the Fortymile River, where the Indian
village of Kechumstuk was situated at the head of small boat
navigation, it was possible to take a good trail to Mansfield
Village and, but eight miles distant from Mansfield village,
the Tanana River about halfway between the Tok and Robertson
rivers. Brooks estimated the distance from the navigable
Fortymile River to the Tanana River to be fifty miles. From
the Copper River it was possible to reach the Tanana River by
way of Suslota Pass or Mentasta Pass, which was the lower of
the two. Once over Suslota Pass, prospectors made their way to
Tok Rivei and usually descended that river in rafts. At least
one prospecting party crossed the mountains from the new strike
on Chistochina River to Robertson River, and followed that

stream to the Tanana River. 10/

About the same time that the Survey party landed at Skagway, a
detachment of soldiers under Captain William R. Abercrombie was
landed at Valdez on steamer Valencia. The detachment was
directed to provide assistance to lost, destitute, and
demoralized stampeders, explore and map the Copper River basin
for trail and railroad routes, and collect information about
the Indians, wildlife, flora, geological formations., and any

other information that may be useful to the development of
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Alaska. Abercrombie established a military cantonment, and

then sent four exploring parties into the Copper River basin.

' Two of these parties also were to explore the upper Tanana

district. Himself leading a party across Valdez Glacier to the
Copper River, Abercrombie followed the Fortymile trail to
Mentasta village. He then continued to Little Tok River, which
he called the East Branch of Tok River, and followed that
stream to its head where he found three passes to the Tanana
River basin. One of these passes, he learned from Indians, was

practicable for travel to the Fortymile country. 11/

More important was the expedition of Lieutenant P.G. Lowe, the
only military party in 1898 to follow the Fortymile Trail to
the Yukon River. Reaching-Sanford River on August 6, they
crossed that river and proceeded to Boulder Creek and Slana
River, where they camped on August 21 about sixteen miles from
its mouth. They then went to "John's House" on Mentasta Creek,
and on August 26 reached the summit of Meiklejohn Pass by way
of Trail Creek. Crossing the pass, the men followed Tetlin
River to Tetlin Lake and visited Tetlin village for a short
whilet They continued on to the Tanana River, and then made
their way over the hills to Dennison Fork of the Fortymile
River. Following that stream to its.mouth. and thence to Moose
Creek, they purch;sed a boat and descended the Fortymile to the

Yukon. 12/
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Along with the military explorations and the maps that
resulted, the most important achievement of the Army at Valdez
in 1898 was the location and improvement of an alternative
route to Copper Center, one that avoided the glaciers and
passed through a wooded area. Abercrombie had a small party at
work on the trail through Keystone Canyon in the fall of 1898.
Much more needed to be done on the trail before it was
practicable for travel. Thus, in his report of 1899,
Abercrombie recommended that the Army continue explorations in
Alaska, that a military trail be constructed from Valdez to the
new mining camps on the Yukon River, and that relay stations be
established on the trail. Noting that the prospectors had
voluntarily contributed $3.7 million in hard money and time to
establish "an all-American route" to Interior Alaska,
Abercrombie declared that the Valdez-Eagle trail would prove to
be "the most practicable route for opening up to settlement the
remnant of our frontier, in the development of which it has
been the uniform policy of the War Department to go hand in
hand, as it were, with the pioneer." 13/
Aware of the implications behind the construction of the White
Pass and Yukon Railway., which, when completed, woulq control
much of the flow of American trade into Alaska, and considering
too the sensitive negotiations with Canada over the location of

the International Boundary, the War Department did not ignore
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Abercrombie's recommendations that an all-American trail be
constructed from Valdez to Eagle, thereby connecting the
navigable waters of Interior Alaska with an ice-free port.
Thus, in early spring of 1899, the War Department ordered two
large expeditions to Alaska. Under the command of Captain
Edwin P. Glenn, the Cooks Inlet Exploring Expedition was
instructed to explore and map routes from Passage Canal to
Turnagain Arm, and from the Susitna River to the Tanana River.
The Copper River Expedition under Captain Abercrombie was to
establish a military camp and depot at Valdez:; locate and
construct a military road to Eagle on the Yukon River; and
explore and map as much of the area adjacent to the projected
road as was possible. 14/
Trail construction during the summer of 1899 was directed by
Lieutenant Walter C. Babcock. Enlisted men with previous
experience in trail and railroad construction work in Colorado
and Wyoming, as well as destitute prospectors, began work on
the trail at the entrance to Keystone Canyon in April. Work
progressed rap;dly: so that by the close of the season, the
trail extended to a point near Copper Center. 15/
The Copper River Exploring Expedition conducted few
explorations in the summer of 1899. Only one party was sent

over the Fortymile Trail. A small party consisting of John F.
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Rice, quartermaster's clerk, Edwin Wood, packer, Edwin Cashman,
cook, and John Weiler, with five pack and two saddle horses
made the trip to investigate conditions on the trail. Post
office inspector C.L. Wayland accompanied the party to
establish post offices at the minigg camps on the route.
Arriving at Lake Mentasta in early July, the men found about
twenty prospectors and three Tetlin Indians there. From these
Indians, Rice learned that all but two of the Mentasta Indians
had died during the winter and that the survivors had joined
the Kechumstuk Indians. The Tetlin Indians had journeyed to
the lake to verify the report and if true, determine whether
they could obtain a winter's supply of f£ish. Rice noted that
the Indians were heavily armed and upon asking them the reason,
the Indians replied that "they had no right in this section of
the country and were prepared to defend themselves if

necessary." 16/

Employing one of the Indians to guide them to the Fortymile
Trail, the Rice party left Mentasta Lake on July 12 for the
headwaters of Tok River by way of Mentasta Pass. Crossing Tok
River on a raft, the men then followed the river through a
dense forest before turning northwest to travel some
twenty-five miles over "the levelest, as well as the dryest,
country in Alaska.* Upon reaching the Tanaha River at a point

later known as Tanana Crossing, the party crossed the river in
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a raft and then proceeded to Lake Mansfield, where they arrived

on July 18. Ten days later the party reached Eagle. 17/

Oon Augqust 9, Rice left Eagle for Valdez. Somewhere on the
trail between the villages of Mansfield and Kechumstuk, he met
Andrew Holman, who had the contract to carry mail from Valdez
to Eagle, establishing mail stations along the trail. Rice

eventually reached Valdez on September 11. 8/

Not long after the Rice party entered Mentasta Pass,
topographer C.E. Griffiths of the Cooks Inlet Exploring
Expedition reached Mentasta Lake from Knik on Cook Inlet and
Chesna on the head of Chistochina River. From the mining camp
of Chesna Griffiths traveled overland to the Slana River where
he found the camp of a group of prospectors from Dawson,
Minnesota. 19/ He then headed north to enter the valley of
the Little Tok River evidently by way of Suslota Pass.
Following that stream he struck the Fortymile Trail on July 30
just across the mouth of the Little Tok River, and proceeded
down the Tok River through a heavily timbered area to the
lowlands which began about eight miles from the Tanana River.
This section was, he wrote, "as level as a floor." He saw many
0ld stampeders' camps along the Tok River as well as quantities
of abandoned paraphanalia, such as clothing. On August 2, they

ferried their goods across the Tanana River, and soon after met
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a party of prospectors from the head of Nabesna River. Two
members of this party, W.J. McGee of Pueblo, Colorado and
H.S. Conger of Mora, Minnesota, who was suffering from scurvy
and unable to walk much, decided to accompany Griffiths to
Eagle. On August 3, Griffiths reached Mansfield Village, then
inhabited by about sixty-five Indians. They continued on to

Eagle without mishap. 20/

In the spring of 1899, the Geological Survey also organized
another exploring expedition to the Upper Tanana district, this
one to locate a route from gyramid Harbor on Lynn Canal to
Eagle City by way of the headwaters of the White and Tanana
rivers. The expedition consisted of William J. Peters,
topographer; Alfred H. Brooks, geologist: Gastrow S. Phillip,
topogﬁaphic assistant; and Thomas M. Hunt, Ed Brown, and Joseph
Cahill, camp hands. Assembling at Pyramid Harbor on May 21,
the Survey party followed the route of Jack Dalton and Henry
Bratnober who in 1898 traveled overland to the headwaters of
the White River to prospect for copper. On August 6, the party
reached Klutlan Glacier in the Wrangell Mountains and spent
gseveral days there examining copper outcrops on Kletsan Creek,
a tributary of the White River. 1In the vicinity they met two
prospectors named E.J. Cooper and H.A. Hammond who had reached
the area with a pack train by taking an Indian trail from the
upper Copper River. About a weekilater the Survey party

reached the White River.
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Following that river to its headwaters, they then headed west
to the Chisana and Nabesna rivers. While on the upper White
River, they met a band of about twenty Indians from the Copper
River who were on a hunting expedition. Perhaps it was from
these Indians that Brooks learned that the Army had established
a post at Mentasta Pass. 21/ Following Nabesna River
downstream for about twenty miles, the Survey party then struck
a northwesterly course across the lowlands to reach the Tanana
River near the mouth of Tetlin River on September 1. Taking
the next few days to build a boat, they ferried their outfits

across the Tanana River, and then took the trail to EBagle

where they arrived on September 16.

fn his hastily written account of the journey, Brooks reported
that the upper Tanana and Upper White rivers were "worthy of
careful investigation by the prospector and the capitalist.®
The best route to the head of the White and Tanana rivers, he
believed, was by way of the Fortymile or Eagle trail and the
Batzulnetas trail. It was possible, but more difficult, to
take the Survey party's route from Tetlin River to the Nabesna
River. 22/

As a result of the Army and Geological Survey expeditions of
1898-99, most of the Copper, Tanana, and White River valleys

' were mapped. This information was scattered in various
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publications. 1In 1902, recognizing the development of mines in
the Chitina River valley, and on the upper Nabesna, Chisana,
and Chistochina rivers, the Geological Survey spent more than
half of its Alaska appropriation in dispatching two
well-equipped parties to the region. Their mission was to
extend previous surveys until a practically complete map of the
Copper River basin and the contiguous regions were made. The
Survey parties included Walter C. Mendenhall, Frank C.

Schrader, and D.C. Witherspoon.

In their report of 1903, Mendenhall and Schrader described the
various routes in the w:;ngell Mountains and illustrated these
routes in their "Map of Mount Wrangell District, Alaska." They
reported the principal routes to be the Mentasta Pass trail,
the Batzulnetas-Lake Suslota-Suslota Pass-Little Tok River
trail, the Sikonsina Pass trail, the Gillette Pass trail, the
Meiklejohn Pasé trail, and the Tetlin River trail. 23/

The Survey expedition of 1902 was.tne last one of an exploring
nature sent into the Upper Copper and Tanana rivers. Other
survey expediﬁions were to be sent into the region in later
years, but these were to report upon mineral discoveries and to
carry on geological investigations. Their purpose was thus to

facilitate the development of the mining industry.
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While many gold discoveries were made in Alaska by the Klondike
stampeders, none proved to be as important as the Nome strike
on Seward Peninsula in ushering in the modern economic
development of Alaska. The Nome gold rush of 1899-1900 brought
to the forefront the inadequacies of Alaskan transportation and
communication facilities. During the short summer season,
steamships from the ports of Seattle and San Francisco plied
the waters of Bering Sea to Nome and St. Michael, where
connections were made with steamboats operating on the Yukon
River and its tributaries. Other steamships made their way
through the Inside Passage to Skagway, the tidewater terminal
of the White Pass and Yukon Railway. This narrow-gauge
railroad, completed in 1900, extended to Whitehorse, the
octdinary head of steamboat navigation on the Yukon River.
Unlike St. Michael and Nome, Skagway was accessible throughout
the year, permitting shippers to send equipment and supplies to
Whitehorse for trans-shipment down the Yukon River with the

opening of navigation.

The winters left the mining camps on Seward Peninsula

isolated. None had ready access to Whitehorse during the
winter months, and were thus forced to wait until summer before
receiving the supplies and heavy equipment so crucial for a
successful mining operation during the short summer seasons.

Great distances separated the mining camps from the railroad
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terminal, which made for high tariffs. Aside from these
considerations, miners in Alaska were required to pay duties on
goods crossing the international boundary, thereby adding to
the cost of mining. As a result, a great public cry for the
development of an all-American route to Interior Alaska was -

heard in Washington, D.C.

The need for communication and transportation facilities in
Alaska was not unrecognized in Congress. As the War Department
established a number of military posts at Nome (Fort Davis),
St. Michael (Fort St. Michael), Tanana (Fort Gibbon), Eagle
(Fort Egbert), and Valdez (Fort Liscum) during the years 1899
and 1900, Congress apﬁropriatéd in May 1900, $450,550 for the
construction of a Washington-Alaska Military Cable and
Telegraph System (WAMCATS) and $100,000 for the construction of
military roads, trails and bridges. When completed, the
telegraph system would provide large mining camps from Nome to
Eagle and Valdez communication with the continental United

States.

Construction of the telegraph system was divided into four
major sections. The St. Michael-Tanana line was completed in
the summer of 1901; the Tanana-Rampart line in January 1902:
the Tanana-Eagle line via Goodpaster River in June 1903; and

the Valdez-Eagle line in August 1902. Construction of the




29
Valdez-Eagle line, the most important section in the system as
it linked the line in Interior Alaska with submarine cables
extending to southeast Alaska towns and the west coast of the

United States, proceeded from Valdez and Eagle simultaneously.

Most of the line was constructed from Valdez under the
direction of Lieutenant George C. Burnell. Distributing
construction material along the Fortymile trail during the
winter months, and erecting the poles and line in the summer,
Burnell's men succeeding in constructing the line as far as
Chistochina by the fall of 1901. For a time there was some
question as to what route the line should follow over the
mountains. Captain William R. Abercrombie, then in charge of
const:uctioﬁ of the military trail, initially decided upon
Mentasta Pass as the route of the line, and then have the line
cross the Tanana River near the mouth of Tetlin River. He
wrote to Captain Charles S. Farnsworth, the commanding officer
at Fort Egbert, requesting information about the country
between the Tanana River and Eagle. Replying in January 1901,
Farnsworth described the route from Eagle to the Tanana River
as told to him by two or three men at Eagle who had gone over
the trail. As far as the crossing of the Tanana River was
concerned, he wrote, "Mail carriers seem to think the best
place to cross the Tanana River is about 40 miles below Tetling

and it looks to me that crossing would be more convenient for
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Ayour road if I understand you rightly that it will go through
Mentasta Pass. Trail and line would be located near Lake
Mansfield." Farnsworth subsequently left Eagle to take the
Fortymile trail as far as the Kechumstuk Hills. Upon his
return he wrote another letter to Abercrombie, urging him to
locate the line near Lake Mansfield. He estimated that the
lake was only two or three miles from the Tanana River, adding
that "several persons have informed me that the crossing of the
Tanana at Lake Mansfield is an easy one and that it is the
crossing most frequently used by the Indians.® There was a
"good easy trail" from Mentasta to the Mansfield crossing of
the Tanana River. According to several men, "the Tetling
crossing would take the line from 40 to 60 miles out of the
shortest route from here to Mentasta Pass." 24/ |
Taking Farnsworth's advice, Abercrombie made a trip to the
Tanana River in the summer of 1901 to inspect the Mansfield
crossing. Upon his return to Valdez, he reported to Major
Wilds P. Richardson, Adjutant General of the Department of
Alaska, that he had selected a crossing for the Trans-Alaska
Military Road at an island formed by the Tanana and Little
Tanana rivers about eight miles from Mansfield Lake. This
island he named Farnsworth Island, in recognition of
Farnsworth's contribution in locating the crossing of the

Tanana River for the military telegraph line and trail. 25/
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Once the site of the Tanana River crossing was located,
soldiers pushed hard to extend the line to the river. By the
fall of 1901, the Fort Egbert garrison had constructed only
about thirty-five miles of line south of Eagle. In early
January 1902, however, the able and ambitious Lieutenant
William Mitchell arrived at Fort Egbert to take charge of the
telegraph construction project. By early April, Mitchell had
the line extended to a point within forty miles of the Tanana
River. 1In late July and early August, Burnell's men
constructed the line in Mentasta Pass and down the Tok River
valley. On Sunday, August 24, 1902, Burnell and Mitchell met
at the Tanana River crossing, popularly known as Tanana
Crossing (now Tanacross), thereby completing the 420-mile line
from Fort Liscum to Fort Egbert. Both Eagle and Valdez now had
the means to communicate with the United States. 26/
In the meantime, Abercrombie succeeded in pushing a road up the
Copper River valley. 1In 1900 Abercrombie and Lieutenant
W.C. Babcock were assigned to the Fort Liscum garrison with
instructions to survey a Trans-Alaska Military Road from Valdez
to Fort Egbert. 1In the first year of construction the men .
extended the road as far as Tazlina River, constructed a bridge
across Klutina River, and established ferry service at the
major rivers between Copper Center and Chistochina, about

170 miles from Valdez. Congress having extended the
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appropriation of 1900 for another year, Abercrombie returned to
Alaska and extended the road to Chistochina, located the route
from Chistochina to the Tanana River, and constructed a pack
trail six feet wide to the Tanana River. 1In his report of

Auqust 1901, he described the route as follows:

As now located the road crosses the Chistochena five miles
above its mouth paralleling the Copper some two miles back
to the foothills of the main range dividing the Copper and
Tanana where it deflects to the north, crossing the
Chulchesna and passing through a low divide enters the
Painted Pass emerging on the Slahna at Lake Mentasta,
skirting which the Mentasta Pass is entered, reaching the
headwaters of the Tok, that river is followed for some
forty miles down to the Tanana Valley where the trail
leaves the Tok ;akinq a Northwest course for fifteen miles
to Farnsworth Island: crossing the Tanana there is a short
piece of unlocated ground, to the head of Bullion Creek

27/

Abercrombie estimated that he would have the pack trail to the
Tanana River completed by late September or early October. He
believed that the Army would have to maintain the trail for at
least two years, and proposed to prepare estimates for the

work. Apparently his request was not approved, despite a




33

personal appeal to the War Department to expend $50,000 in
addition to the $20,000 left over from the original
appropriation for the road construction project. 28/

With the completion of the Valdez-Eagle telegraph line and
trail, considerable public pressure developed for the
construction of a wagon road over the route. Residents of
Valdez were naturally vocal in support of a Valdez-Eagle road.
Prospectors and miners working the areas tributary to the
téail. such as Slate Creek, the Chitina River valley, the upper
Nabesna River, and of course, the Fortymile River country.
depended upon the trail to‘t:ansport supplies and equipment to
their workings. Numerous plans for the construction of a
railroad over the route were much discussed. The Army used the
trail to supply the numerous telegraph stations along the

line. And finally the trail had proved itself to be a

practicable all-American route for the transportation of mail.

The Post Office Department awarded a contract to Richard
Chilcoot, partner in the firm Baineson and Chilcoot, General
Shipping Agents, of Seattle., in the spring of 1899. Beginning
on October 1, 1899, sub-contractor Andrew Holman began carrying
the mail, not more than one hundred pounds each trip, from
Valdez to Circle by way of Copper Center, Mentasta Pass, and

Eagle. In the winter of 1900-01, sub-contractors James and
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Oscar Fish made improvements to the mail service, so that the
time for the trip was reduced to twenty days one way. Some
carriers succeeding in making the trip from Valdez to Eagle in
twelve or thirteen days, approximately equal to the time

required on the Skagway-Eagle run.

In March 1902, Oscar Pish was awarded a four-year contract for
the delivery of mail from Valdez to Eagle, which included mail
for Nome. He was to make two trips a month, or twenty-four
trips each year, by dogsled, each time carrying.not more than
three hundred pounds of mail. He was to receive $35,000,
making him the best paid carrier in the world. Oscar Pish
subsequently sublet the mail contract to James Fish and
Company, which planned to establish a stage line from Valdez to
the Yukon River. The mail was carried over the route in nine
relays. Stations with dogs and horses were located about every
sixty miles:; and shelter cabins, about every ten miles.
IStations were located at Mentasta Pass (Mile 207), Big Takeo
(Mile 238), and Tanana (Mile 267). 29/

In September 1902, a Valdez local newspaper, discussing the
relative merits of the Valdez-Circle and Skagway-Circle mail
routes, obsarved that the former route averaged for two winters
four days better than the latter, and "while every trip was

made by the Valdez route, a large number of trips in both the
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‘'spring and fall were not attempted on the Yukon." This fact
did not escape the attention of the United States Senators who
toured Alaska in the summer of 1903. Visiting the major
settlements in Southeast Alaska and on the Yukon River and
Seward Peninsula as well as Valdez, the Senate subcommittee of
the committee on territories quickly learned that the greatest
demand in Alaska was transportation. At Valdez, leading
residents arqued the need to improve the Valdez-Eagle trail to
wagon road standard and to route all mail for Interior Alaska
by way of the trail. Such action would result in considerable
savings to the Post Office and War Departments. Improvement of
the trail would doubtlessly be followed by the construction of
a railroad over the route. The Senate subcommittee agreed with
this view and upon its return to Waéhington recommended the

construction of the Valdez-Eagle wagon road. 30/

The visit of the Senators to Alaska sparked avpetition in the
Fortymile country for the construction of the road by the coast
cities and Fortymile camps. C.B. McDowell of Chicken Creek,
the main proponent of the petition, advocated the construction
of a good sled road, suitable for a six-horse team, from Valdez
to Tanana Crossing by Valdez and other coastal towns, while the
Fortymile miners would extend the road to the international
boundary. He wrote, "Wé are determined to get the front door

opened, and believe the only way to do so is to do it
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ourselves. Waiting for government aid is like Mr. Micawber,
waiting for something that never turns up." 31/ Anticipating
that work on the Valdez-Eagle trail would begin soon, people
began to establish homesteads and roadhouses along the trail.
Describing.this movement, McDowell predicted that the Tanana
Valley would prove to be a rich field for prospectors, and that
Tanana Crossing would be a major settlement. "Tanana
Crossing," he wrote, "is the best place in the interior to
trade with the Indians, being surrounded by the Ketchumstock,
Mansfield, Mantasta, and Tetlan tribes, and their fur trade is
worth having." The Tetlin Indians in particular had many
marten skins, as well as over thirty black, silver, and cross
fox skins. Traders could purchase the black foxes for $75 to
$100 each and in turn sell them "outside" for $275 to $500
each. More important, Tanana Crossing could become an
important trans-shipment point for the newly discovered
diggings on Chena River. Supplies could be landea at Tanana
Crossing and taken in scows to Fairbanks at far less expense
than on the Dawson-Circle-Fairbanks route. 32/

Upon his return ﬁo Washington Senator Knute Nelson attempted to
secure passage of a bill appropriating $250,000 for the
construction of a wagon road from Valdez to Eagle by a board of
road commissioners under the War Department . In the end, he

obtained a bill appropriating $25,000 for a survey of the wagon




37
road. Under the immediate direction of J.M. Clapp., assistant
engineer in the U.S. Engineer Office in Seattle, four survey
parties were organized to survey the proposed wagon road in the
summer of 1904. Clapp himself went over the Fortymile trail
with Jasper Wilson, son of the Secretary of Agriculture, who
was making a tour of Alaska in the interest of the Department
of Agriculture. In his detailed report on the Eagle Trail, he

described the Mentasta Pass-Tanana Crossing section as follows:

About a mile north of the Salana is the village of the
Mentasta Indians to the number, all told, of about 40. It
is located on a little clear-water stream which drains Lake
Mentasta. The lake has an area of about 1 square mile. At
the upper end of the lake the survey enters the Mentasta
Pass, a naturally easy route through the hills which
separate the watersheds of the Tanana and Copper Rivers.

In this pass is to be found about the best quality of
timber (spruce) met with along the whole route. The small
creeks along the northern slope of the Mentasta Pass form
the headwaters of the Little Tokio River, the course of
which is short. About 5 miles north of the north end of
the pass the Little Tokio joins the main Tokio River. The
trail and survey line follow along the Little Tokio, cross
it, and finally cross the Tokio a few hundred yards below

the junction of the two rivers. From the crossing of the
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Tokio they follow across a wet flat to the hillside on the
west of the valley. A reconnaissance of the country shows
that it is unnecessary to cross the Little Tokio and that a
great deal of the wet flat could be eliminated, as well as

one bridge crossing.

Both trail and survey follow this hillside to Mica Creek, a
tributary to the Tokio. From here ﬁhey cross a bottom
about 7 miles, where tﬁe ground is soft and firm
alternately, but over which a good road can be
.constzucted. Suddenly this soft flat disappears, the
foothills of the Tanana Hills bear off to the westward, and |
the valley of the upper Tanana is entered. This wide
valley, upon which small quaking aspen trees grow
abundantly, is dry and firm. Both trail and survey line
lead in almost a direct line to the crossing of the Tanana
River, 15 miles. This stretch of valley is low, being less
than 50 feet above the Tanana anywhere and about 15 feet
above it at the crossing. The construction of a road over
this 15 miles is simply to remove a few stumps and fill in

a few hollows. 33/

Both the Little Tok River (mile 230) and the Tok River
(mile 234) required bridges, as both were dangerous to cross,

even on kafts. The Tok River would probably require 500 feet
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of trestle; and Mica Creek, about 250 feet of trestle. In any
case, the Little Tok and Tok rivers should be provided with
cables and a boat suitable to cross a horse on. 34/

In his report to the Corps of Engineers of December 10, 1904,
Clapp considered the construction of a wagon road from Valdez
to Eagle to be entirely feasible. He d4id not recommend its
construction, even though he suspected the route would be
traveled more as a result of the recent gold strike near
Fairbanks. Stampeders to Fairbanks had taken the Fortymile
trail or "“the poor man's route" to Tanana C:ossing. and then
descended the Tanana River to Chena River. 1In all probability,
more people would take this route during the summer of 1905.
The projected construction costs were, however, much more than
had been widely believed. Clapp estimated that the 430-mile
road would cbst an average of $3,500 per mile or a total of
$1,505,000. Some sections would require many times the average

figure, while others would require little work and expense. 35/

Clapp's reporf was never given serious consideration. On
January 27, 1905, Senator Knute Nelson finally saw his bill
providing for a Board of Road Commissioners for Alaska in the
War Department signed into law. Popularly known as the Alaska
Road Commission, the board consiQted of three Army officers

empowered "upon their own motion or upon petition, to locate,
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lay out, construct and maintain waéon roads, and pack trails
from any point on the navigable waters of [Alaska)] to any town,
mining or other industrial camp or settlement, between any such
town, camps or settlements therein, if in their judgment such
roads or trails are needed and will be of permanent value for
the development of the district." This broad power was wielded
effectively by Major Wilds P. Richardson, the former Adjutant
General of the Department of Alaska and president of the Alaska

Road Commission from 1905 to 1917.

From the beginning of its existence the Alaska Road
Commission's primary objective was the improvement of the
Valdez-Fairbanks trail to wagon road standard. This trail
extended from the Fortymile trail at Gulkana up the Gulkana
River to its head, and thence over Isabel Pass to the Delta
River, and thence down that river to the Tanana River at
present-day Big Delta. From that place the trail followed the
Tanana River to Fai:banks on Chena River. Prospectors in the
Copper River valley cﬁstoma:ily used this trail to reach the
new diggings in the Fairbanks district. By 1905 it was the

principal overland mail route to Interior Alaska settlements.

As the Alaska Road Commission began the work to bring the
Valdez-Fairbanks trail to wagon road standard, a project that

was not completed until the early 19108, the old Fortymile
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trail declined in importance. 1In the summer of 1906 the Signal
Corps constructed a telegraph line along the Valdez-Fairbanks
trail from McCarty (now Big Delta) to Gakona. The telegraph
line from the Tanana River to the Fortymile River via
Goodpaster River was abandoned. 1In 1908, the Signal Corps
established wireless stations at Fort St. Michael, Fort Gibbon,
Fairbanks, Circle, and Fort Egbert. The Army began
streamlining the telegraph system by abandoning lines or
construction cut-off lines. In 1911, when Fort Egbert was
closed, the Eagle-Gulkana telegraph line was abandoned. Five

telegraph stations or offices on the line were closed. 36/

Mail service on the Valdez-Eagle mail route was discontinued in
1908. James Fish had the mail contract from this route until
1905. At that time, the Post Office Department awarded the
contract to J.R. Crittenden of Valdez for $46,000 a year.
Summer service was twice a month; winter service was weekly.

In 1907, Crittenden attempted to establish an express and
passenger service on the Eagle route. Crews effected
improvements on the trail; and cabins and barns were built
along the trail every sixteen and thirty-six miles. In October
1907 he reported that he had a “"road clear through over which a
horse and sled can be used all winter." Up until that time
only dogsleds had been used between the Chistochina and Tok

stations. The road was ten feet wide from Ahtel Creek to
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Indian Pass, and from Mentasta to a point four miles beyond Big
Tokio. The crossing of the Little Tok River was eliminated,
the road keeping to the left limit of that stream all the way.
The new trail was said to be twenty-three miles shorter in

distance. 37/

Byjl908 many prospectors from the Fairbanks camp were entering
the Upper Tanana district by way of the Tanana River. Most
continued to enter the district by way of the Fortymile trail
and its many branches to the headwaters of the Nabesna,
Chisana, and White rivers where a large number of gold and
copper mining claims were held. However, with the founding of
Fairbanks, increasing numbers of prospectors made their way up
the Tanana River. They made strikes on many of the large
tributaries of the Tanana River, notably on Kantishna River,
Salcha River, Delta River, Goodpaster River, and Healy River.
Mining developed on these tributaries, and small settlements
arose about the roadhouses, trading posts, and telegraph
stations along the trail from Fairbanks to the crossing of the
Tanana River at Big Delta. Shallow-draft steamboats, such as
the White Seal and the Koyukuk, and sometimes the Florence S.
and the Pup, made regular runs from Fairbanks to Richardson and
Big Delta with passengers, mining equipment and supplies, trade
goods, telegraph material, and so forth. SOmetimes'the

steamboats were chartered for trips to the mouth of the
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Goodpaster River and even Tanana Crossing, although high
transportation charges--3$200 per ton in 1908--prevented most

prospectors from making that trip.

After Henry Bratnober's successful ascent of the Tanana River
to the Nabesna River and some distance up that river with the

steamboat Ella in the summer of 1905, associations of

prospectors formed to finance the chartering of steamboats to
the Upper Tanana district. 1In the fall of 1908, prospectors

began to open up the Healy River, and the steamboat White Seal

made at least two trips up the Tanana River to that tributazy,
One of these trips included W.H. Newton who opened a store at
the mouth of Healy River. About the same time James A.
Northway in a small steamboat (perhaps the Tetlin), built and
equipped with a prospecting boiler at Fairbanks that summer,
ascended the Tanana River on a trading and prospecting
expedition. He intended to start a trading post at the head of
navigation on the Tanana River, but managed only to reach
Tanana Crossing before winter set in. 1In the following summer
he apparently made his way to Tetlin River and there
established a post or cache. 38/

Both Newton and Northway experienced considerable difficulty in
carrying on a trading business in the Upper Tanana district.

In 1910 Northway again returned to the district, only to lose
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all that he had in a river accident. 1In the Chisana gold rush
of 1913, he ascended the river to the Nabesna River on the
launch Tetlin and went up that river a distance of twenty-five
to thirty-five miles before running the boat onto a gravel
bar. Unable to supply his post on Healy River in 1910 and
1911, Newton and H.C. Gunn purchased an interest in the
steamboat Dusty Diamond and a barge, and chartered both for the
upriver voyage. 1In 1912, Newton opened a trading post at
Tanana Crossing at at the mouth of Nabesna River. Two years
later, he sold his Nabesna store to John Strelic and removed to

Healy River. 39/

When in 1913 a prospector named Agdrew M. Taylor arrived in
Dawson from the Chisana River with about two hundred ounces of
gold, a stampede for the Upper Tanana district resulted.
Prospectors rushed to Chisana River by all of the old
routes--the White River route, the Gulkana route, the Skolai
Pass route, and the Chisana Glacier route. 1In addition, many
people ascended the Tanana River. Perhaps as many as three
hundred men left Fairbanks for the Chisana during the months
July to Sepceﬁber 1913. Some ascended the river in poling
boats and launches; and some took passage on the commercial
carriers of the Northern Navigation Company and the
American-Yukon Navigation Company. in which case they paid a

$100 fare, $250 to $350 a ton for freight with a limit of one
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 thousand pounds per passenger, and in addition agreed to cut

wood to fuel the steamboat.

That fall twenty-one steamboats left Fairbanks for the Chisana

diggings. The Reliance, the Tetlin, the Marathon and the Mabel
succeeded in reaching the confluence of the Nabesna and Chisana
rivers where a small short-lived community called Reliance City

was founded. The Tana, the Sampson, the S&S, the Martha Clow,

and possibly the Zodiak and the Shushana reached various points
above Tanana Crossing before the winter set in. From these
points many prospectors mushed overland or ascended the Tanana
River in small boats to the upper Chisana River:; others
prospected the streams in the vicinity of the steamboat

landings or returned to Fairbanks as best they could.

The overland trail to the upper Chisana River was described by
William H. Newton in July 1913 to the Fairbanks newspapers.
According to Newton, the summer trail from McCarty (Big Delta)
to Tanana Crossing was dry and well-defined. Shelter was
available every eight to twenty-two miles. From Tanana
Crossing, where there was a trading post and an Episcopal
mission, it was possible to pole a boat up the Tanana River and
far up the Chisana River for "the water is so slack that the
wind will blow a boat upstream." If travellers did not wish to

build a boat at Tanana Crossing, they could follow the summer
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trail to the Chisana River. From Tanana Crossing to Tetlin
village, a distance of forty-four miles, the traveller would
find a relay cabin at mile 22. The first seventeen miles of
the trail was known as the "Dry Stretch" as there was no water
onwthe route. Beyond Tetlin Lake, Newton advised, "it would be
prudent to hire Indian guides." There was a good Indian trail
from the lake to Nabesna River, thirty miles distant; and from
Nabesna to the Big Bend country of the Chisana River, about
sixty miles distant. The Upper Tanana district was, he said,
bountiful in fish and game. He estimated that mushers from
Fairbanks could cover the 335 miles to the Chisana River in

twelve to thirteen days. 40/

The winter of 1913-14 in the Chisana district was very hard for
the stampeders, most of whom were ill-equipped. Due to the
difficulties of supplying the camp, the prospectors were often
forced to live off the land. According to Stephen R. Capps, a
geologist with a Geological Survey party that visited the area
in the summer of 1914, an estimated two thousand mountain sheep
"were killed within a distance of 20 miles of the placer camps
during the winfe: of 1913-14, and in that area they have been
almost completely exterminated." 41/ Rabbits and ptarmigan
were then unusually numerous, and formed a substantial part of
the prospectors' diet. The more fortunate sometimes bagged a

caribou or moose. Once it was learned that the Chisana
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district was not as rich or extensive as first believed, many
prospectors left the district in whipsawn boats by descending
the Chisana and Tanana rivers to Fairbanks. Capps estimated
that several thousand people reached the Chisana camp during
the fall and winter, but only a few hundred were there at any

cne time. 42/

After the Chisana gold rush, miners and prospectors continued
to work the gravels of the upper White, Chisana, and Nabesna
rivers, as well as many of the tributaries of the lower Tanana
River. Prospectors found traces of gold in many places, but no
deposits in paying quantities were located until the 1920s.
Also, in 1914 a deposit of stibnite one, then much in demand
for the war effort, was discovered on Stibnite Creek, a
northwesterly tributary of Tok River, about fifteen miles north
of Mentasta Pass. Surface feature indicated a considerable
body or ore, but it was left undeveloped. 43/

By and large, however, the Upper Tanana district was left to
the Indians and a few traders, all of whom relied upon the
Tanana River rather than the Valdez-Eagle trail as a route of
travel to the district. One of these traders, realizing that
the gold rushes to the district were merely a prelude to events
to come, that the district sooner or later would lose the

benefits of isolation, was to figure importantly in the history
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of the Upper Tanana district. The story of his life is in
large measure the story of the Upper Tanana Indians' efforts to
prepare for and adjust to economic changes of a cataclysmic

nature.
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PART TWO
JOHN HAJDUKOVICH AND THE UPPER TANANA INDIANS

Sometime between the years 1915 and 1922, a trader named John
Krist Hajdukovich entered the Upper Tanana district. As a
prospector, trapper, roadhouse proprietor, hunter, big game
guide, freighter, and trader, Hajdukovich came to know the
Upper Tanana district was well as any man could know it. Until
his death in 1965, he was widely recognized as an authority on
economic and social conditions in the distrfct. and was
frequently consulted on these matters. The regulation of
hunting, fishing, and trapping activities, the construction of
trails, roads, and airplane landing fields, and the
introduction of postal, educational and medical services, were
but a few of Hajdukovich's accomplishments. His crowning
achievement was, however, the establishment of the Tetlin
Indian Reserve in 1930. His fortunes as a trader tied to those
of the Upper Tanana Indians, it is not suprising that

Ha jdukovich appointed himself the guardian of the Upper Tanana

Indians.

Born on November 15, 1879 in Montenegro (now Yugoslavia),

Ha jdukovich was the second and last child in the family. His
sister, with whom he corresponded throughout his life, was born
in 1875. On May 15, 1903, perhaps following the tragic death

of his parents, Hajdukovich, then only twenty-three years of
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age, left his native country to join one of the great waves of
immigrants from Eastern Europe to the United States. Six
months later he arrived at Juneau to spend his first winter in
Alaska. As news of the fabulous gold strikes at Fairbanks then
circulated throughout the country, Hajdukovich left Juneau on
July 4, 1904 to make a leisurely trip to the new diggings by
way of Whitehorse and Dawson. Shortly after his arrival at
Fairbanks on September 10, he with two partners necked sleds
into the Bonnifield country south of Fairbanks where he was
introduced to the art of trapping "small cats," which he later
learned to call marten. For the next two years he spent his
winters trapping marten and his summers prospecting in the

vicinity of Pairbanks. 1/

In the fall of 1906 Hajdukovich left Fairbanks for the Upper
Tanana district where he tried his fortune as a prospector on
Goodpaster River and nearby streams. He established his
headquarters at McCarty (now Big Delta), where the Valdez-
Pairbanks trail crossed the Tanana River and seventeen
prospectors and trappers made their home about the trading post
and roadhouse founded by Ben Bennett in 1904. For a time he
and his partner Milo Janovic engaged successfully in "market
hunting“--killing and selling mountain sheep. moose, and

caribou to the various roadhouses on the Valdez-Fairbanks
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" trail. 2/ Sometime in the late 19108 or early 1920s, he
became the proprietor of the McCarty Roadhouse and advertised
his services as a guide for big game hunters at $7.50 a

day. 3/ On April 3, 1923 he was naturalized in the District
Court in Pairbanks. A year later, Judge Cecil H. Clegg of
Fairbanks appointed Hajdukovich a U.S. Commissioner, which

position he held until resigning in 1936. 4/

During the early 19208 there were at least four traders in the
Upper Tanana district. Emil Hammer was located on Healy River;
a Captain Flanagan at Tetlin; Herman Kessler at Nabesna: and
John Hajdukovich at Tanana Crossing, Tetlin, and Nabesna.
Perhaps desiring to devote more time to prospecting,

Ha jdukovich repeatedly attempted to quit the trading business.
In 1922, he permitted his distant cousin, Milo Hajdukovich, to
enter the trading business in the district, signing an
agreement whereby Milo supposedly agreed to leave the district
at the end of two years, not to put a gas boat on the Tanana
River, and not to establish posts in the Indian villages. 5/
According to John, Milo subsequently broke the agreement on all
points. 1In 1924 Milo persuaded John to permit him to remain in
the district for another year, in order to collect the credit
extended to the Indians. Then, in the following year, Milo put

a gas boat on the river and bought houses for use as stores in




61

Tanana Crossing, Tetlin, and Nabesna. 1In 1929 he then bought

Flanagan's trading post at Tetlin.

Having sold his trading business to a young man named

Theodore R. Lowell, Hajdukovich d4id nothing to enforce the
agreement with Milo until the summer of 1932. Since Lowell
failed to meet the terms of the agreement to purchase his
business, John wanted to re-enter the trading business in the
Upper Tanana district but doubted that it would be successful
unless Milo quit the district. John thus proposed to buy out
Milo's boats, trading posts, caches, trade goods, and accounts
receivable at Tanana Crossing, Tetlin, and Nabesna for
$25,000--310,000 cash down payment, $5,000 in 1933, and $10,000

in 1934 at four percent interest. Milo agreed to the sale. 6/

Ha jdukovich evidently continued trading in the Upper Tanana
district until the early 1940s. Trading was usually conducted
during the winter, the traders traveling to the posts by

dogteam several times a month. During the summers, the traders

. supplied the posts by boat. According to Ted Lowell, who was

associated with Hajdukovich from 1929 to 1936, their primary
post was near the mouth of Healy River: they operated
additional stores at Tetlin, Last Tetlin, Moose Creek, and near
Gardiner Creek on the Chisana River. EBach summer Hajdukovich

and Lowell made six to twelve trips in freight boats to the
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Upper Tanana Indian villages. A trip might include a run up
Healy River to trade with the Indians on Healy Lake; a brief
stop at Tanana Crossing: an ascent of Tetlin River to Tetlin
and Last Tetlin., and Nabesna River to Nabesna, and Chisana

River to Scottie Creek. 7/

Ha jdukovich was not the first to call upon the federal

government to aid the Indians. As early as 1900, the mail

_contractor Oscar Fish wrote to the Secretary of the Interior

from Tanana Crossing, appealing for aid for the Indians of
Mentasta, Tetlin, Mansfield, and Kechumstuk. When he passed
through these villages in the spring of 1900, he found many
destitute Indians, 511 begging for food. Their destitution he
attributed to the fact that the fur-bearing animals in the area
were almost extinct, and that large numbers of moose and
caribou, which the Indians mainly depended for subsistence, had
been killed. Fish gave the Indians all the food that he could
spare, but it was not enough. "They are in the main, honest,
more industrious than the maiority of Indians, very loyal and I
think fully as deserving of Gov't aid as any." 8/ The appeal
went unheeded. The government through the Army provided large
quantities of rations to destitute Indians in the Copper River
country during the 19008 and 1910s, but nothing was done for

the Upper Tanana Indians.
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' Following the Chisana gold rush of 1913, the Upper Tanana
Indians themselves made appeals for government assistance. In
September 1915, Walter Vyeek, Chief of the Mansfield Indians,
together with the assistant Chiefs of Kechumstuk, Tetlin, and
Mentasta, had Daniel Bouville, a prospector on Chicken Creek
who established a store at Mansfield in 1900, write a letter to
the Governor of Alaska. Bouville requested the governor's
assistance in obtaining the permission of the federal
government to establish a fur farm and a cooperative store in
their district. According to their plans, Bouville would
finance the store, taking shares in return which he would sell
"outside" in order to stock the store. Bouville apparently
promised to pay much for young and all live fur-bearing animals
and to extend credit to the Indians in times of hardship. 1In
support of their petition, the Indians spoke long about their
poor conditions. They caught few fur-bearing animals; the
caribou were scarce; they lacked money to purchase ammunition;
the white men no longer purchased'their meat énd crafts; and
now some white men planned to capturé caribou for domestication
purposes. Even when the white men paid for furs or animals,
they did not give a fair price. They would pay the Indians
$150 to $250 for a good live silver fox, and then sell it
"outside" for $3,000. Tﬁe white men killed many caribou and
destroyed the habitat with forest fires. “What are we going to

do when skins all gone, caribou all gone," they asked. 9/
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Governor Strong gave little hope to the Indians. Writing that
he was opposed to government aid to the Indians except "when
the necessity was urgent," Strong expressed doubt that the
condition of the Indians was as deplorable as they would have
one believe. After all, in 1914 it was reported that the
Kechumstuk Indians were threatened with starvation, but, upon
investigation, the report was not verified. Nevertheless, he
wrote, he had directed an investigation be made of conditions
in the district. As far as low fur prices and the possible
domestication of caribou, Strong blithely expressed his view
that the prices would soon rise and that the number of caribou
taken for domestication purposes should not be significant so
as to cause the Indians ﬁo worry. The government intended to
establish hospitals for the care and treatment of Indians
affected with diseases as rapidly as possible. 1In the matter
of the proposed fur farm and cooperative store, Strong offered
a few words of encouragement, adding, however, that once the
company was incorporated, it must pay an annual tax of $15 into
the Territorial Treasury "for the privilege of doing business

in Alaska." 10/

Until the early 19208 little had been done for the Upper Tanana
Indians. As early as 1909 the U.S. Bureau of Education
considered the establishment of a school at either Kechumstuk

or Mansfield, but decided against it partly because of the high
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cost of transportation to the district and partly because the
Episcopalians were establishing missions on the Tanana
River. 11/ 1In 1909 a mission was established at Salcha: and
in 1912, unable to reach Mansfield owing to low water, at
Tanana Crossing. The Tanana Crossing mission was closed in
1921, bﬁt was periodically opened. 12/ Then, in 1924, the
Bureau of Education opened a school at Tetlin. Never formally
trained as a schoolteacher, John "Jack" A. Singleton conducted
classes in a small cabin provided by Chief David. Fifty-seven
years old when he opened the school, Singleton left California
and stampeded to the Klondike in the spring of 1897. He lived
the life of the itinerant prospector for many years, and from
1920 to 1922 was the postmaster at Tanana Crossing. 13/

The establishment of the Tetlin school gave added weight to
John Hajdukovich's petitions for the improvement of trails in
the Upper Tanana district. As early as 1919 he requested
improvements on the McCarty-Healy River trail. According to

Ha jdukovich, the trail was used during the winter by twelve
white men and possibly one hundred Indians as far east as
Tanana Crossing. The trail was thirty-six miles long; by river
the distance was about sixty miles. The trail was used little
for the transportation of freight, a motorboat and poling boats
being operated on the Tanana River during the summer for the

transportation of passengers and freight. Hajdukovich
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cequgsted the Road Commission to rebuild several pole
foot-bridges over streams that did not freeze over in the
winter; and in addition to pay a trapper to operate a ferry
over Clearwater Creek as the man planned to leave the district
on account of the shortage of fur-bearing animals in ;he
district. The Road Commission sent a man to inspect the trail
in June, and he recommended that work be done on the trail. 14/
During and immediately after World War I, the Road Commission
did not undertake new projects owing to inadequate
appropriations. With its reorganization in the early 1920s,
the Road Commission reassessed the value of its trails and
roads in light of Alaska Qconomic conditions. ‘In the summer of
1921, Engineer Officer John C. Gotwals went over the old
Valdez-Eagle trail, and recommended its improvement to the
Nabesna and Chisana districts and the Slate Creek district.
Work on the Gulkana-Chistochina trail subsequently began. 15/
Rather than extend the Gulkana-Chistochina trail to Tanana
Crossing, the Road Commission adopted plans for the improvement
of the Big Delta-Tanana Crossing trail, about 113 miles in
distance. A contract for the work amounting to $1,000 was
awarded to John Hajdukovich in 1923. During the winter of
1923-24 he widened the winter trail in places, cleared the

windfalls, graded banks where the trail crossed streams, cut
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twenty-four miles of new trail between McCarty and Clearwater
Creek and between